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VIB Helin Donovan LLP et al

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

AT SEATTLE
KENNETH MACIORA, Case No. C16-295-RSM
Plaintiff, ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFF'S
MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECONLL
V. AMENDED COMPLAINT AND

GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION T(Q

PMB HELIN DONOVAN LLP,et al., DISMISS PURSUANT TO RULE 12(c)

Defendants.

. INTRODUCTION
This matter comes before the Court orfddelants PMB Helin Donovan, LLP, Christ
Cardwell and Donald McPhee’s Moti to Dismiss Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(c), Dkt. 4
and Plaintiff Kenneth Maciora’ Motion for Leave to File &ond Amended Complaint, DK
#13. Defendants argue that Mvlaciora’s claims are frivolousand legally barred. Mr
Maciora opposes Defendants’ Motion to Dismiand moves to Amend his Complaint to 4

additional claims. Defendants oppose this Motiarmguing that these newlaims are futile.

to Amend, and GRANTS Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss.

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 1

For the reasons set forth below, the Court egngith Defendants, DENIES Plaintiff’'s Motign

Doc. 29

D

e

k12,

add

Dock

pts.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/washington/wawdce/2:2016cv00295/228362/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/washington/wawdce/2:2016cv00295/228362/29/
https://dockets.justia.com/

O 0 NN O O &~ WoN -

N RN RN N N N N N N R o e e e e e e
o NN O O k= WD RO O 0N N O WD RO

Il.  BACKGROUND'
Plaintiff Kenneth Maciora lmgs this action against Bendants PMB Helin Donovarj
LLP (“PMB”), Christie Cardwell and Donald NRhee under several causésaction related tg
securities fraud. Dkt. #2 at 19-26.
Defendant PMB was retained to audit the financial statements of a company
MyECheck prior to the filing ofForm 10” reports and financial statements as required by
Securities Exchange Act of 1934d. at 11 1, 12, 13, 15, 16. PM#rtner Chris Cardwell wa|

primarily responsible for MyECheck’s auditd. at § 8. PMB performed its audit ar

called

the

5

nd

MyECheck caused the Form 10 and financialestents to be filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission (“SEC”)d.
According to the Amended Complaint, August 2015 a “former board member” f

MyECheck informed PMB about alleged acctog errors contained within MyECheck

Form 10 and/or financial statements, includihgt the amount of outstanding shares refle¢

on the Form 10 was “understated by hundreds of millions of shardsdt {1 16, 22, 23, 33
34.
Mr. Maciora alleges that he purchased 66,666,666 common stock share of MyH

from Rod Zalunardo, a former employee of MyECheld.at  28. The date of this purchg

is not alleged. Since October 2015, Mr. Macibes “repeatedly askedehransfer agent of

MyECheck to print his stockertificate and inelde him on the Shareholder Registrard. In
October 2015 and November 2015, Mr. Maciooatacted the Defendants and requested
they cause the Form 10 that was filed with the SEC to be amended to reflect Zalu

ownership of MyECheck sharekd. at | 27.

! The following backgroundacts are taken from Plaintiffs’ First Aended Complaint, Dkt. #2, and accepteq
true for purposes of ruling on these Motions.

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 2
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Mr. Maciora filed his first Complaint in t& Court on February 25, 2016. Dkt. # 1.
filed his First Amended Complaint on Marcl7, 2016. Dkt. # 2. The First Amend
Complaint lists the following claims: Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of
and Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act of 1934; Aiding and Ab
MyECheck’s Violations of Section 10(b) é@nRule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act of 193
Violation of Section 10A of the Exchange tAaf 1934; Aiding and Abtting Violations of
Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and Eawmipe Act Rules 13a-1, 13a-13, and 12b-20; Aid
and Abetting Violations of Section 13(b) oktliExchange Act of 1934 and Securities Act R
13b2-1; and Negligence. Dkt. #2 at 19-26.

1.  DISCUSSION

A. Legal Standard

He

ed
1933
etting

4;

ing

ule

“After the pleadings are closed — but wittsoch time as not to delay the trial — any

party may move for judgment on the pleadings&d. R. Civ. P. 12(c). “Analysis under RY
12(c) is ‘substantially identical’ to analysimder Rule 12(b)(6) because, under both rulg
court must determine whether the facts allegedhe complaint, take as true, entitle thg
plaintiff to a legal remedy.” Chavez v. United Sates, 683 F.3d 1102, 1108 (9th Cir. 201
(citations and internal quotation marks omittes also United Sates ex rel. Cafasso v. Gen.

Dynamics C4 Sys., Inc., 637 F.3d 1047, 1053 (9th Cir. 2011)n making a Rule 12(b)(6|
assessment, the court accepts all facts alleged in the complaint as true, and makes all if
in the light most favorabléo the non-moving party. Baker v. Riverside County Office of

Educ., 584 F.3d 821, 824 (9th Cir. 2009) (internal tiitas omitted). However, the court is n

required to accept as true a “legal coswn couched as a factual allegation&shcroft v.

Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotirggll Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 3
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(2007)). The complaint “must contain sufficieiactual matter, accepteas true, to state

A

claim to relief that isplausible on its face.”ld. at 678. This requirement is met when the

plaintiff “pleads factual content that allows tbeurt to draw the reasonable inference that

defendant is liable for the misconduct allegedld: The complaint need not include detall

allegations, but it must have ore than labels and conclusiormd a formulaic recitation qgf

the elements of a cause of action will not dolwombly, 550 U.S. at 555.Absent facial
plausibility, a plaintiff’'s cahims must be dismissedid. at 570.

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2), a “¢almould freely give leave [to amend] wh
justice so requires,” Fed. R. \CiP. 15(a)(2). Courts apply this policy with “extrem
liberality.” Eminence Capital, LLC v. Aspeon, Inc., 316 F.3d 1048, 1051 (9th Cir. 2003). Fi
factors are commonly used to ass¢he propriety of @nting leave to amend: (1) bad faith,
undue delay, (3) prejudice to the opposing party, (4) futility of amendment, and (5) w

plaintiff has previouslyamended the complaintAllen v. City of Beverly Hills, 911 F.2d 367

the

ed

D
=

D

ve
2)

hether

373 (9th Cir. 1990)Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962). In conducting this five-fagtor

analysis, the court must grant all inferences in favor of allowing amendr@eiggs v. Pace

Am. Group, Inc., 170 F.3d 877, 880 (9th Cit999). In addition, the cwt must be mindful of

the fact that, for each of these factotlse party opposing amendment has the burde

showing that amendment is not warrantddCD Programs, Ltd. v. Leighton, 833 F.2d 183

187 (9th Cir. 1987)see also Richardson v. United Sates, 841 F.2d 993, 999 (9th Cir. 1988).
B. Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to Rule 12(c)

1. Whether thereisa Private Cause of Action for Certain Statutory Claims

Defendants argue that “ther® no private right of actioffor: violation (sic) Section

17(a) of the Securities Act; violation of Sextil0A of the Exchange Act; aiding and abett

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 4
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securities fraud; and/or viation of SEC reporting requiremstitbecause “[o]nly the SEC c4
bring such claims.” Dkt. #1at 2. Defendants argue that.MAaciora’s second, third, fourth
and fifth claims, as well as paof his first claim, are thuprecluded as a matter of lawd.
Defendants support this argument by citinger alia, In re Washington Pub. Power Supply
Sys. Sec. Litig., 823 F.2d 1349, 1358 (9th Cir. 1987) (owding prior cases and concluding “1
private right of action lies under section 17(a)Qentral Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First
Interstate Bank of Denver, NA., 511 U.S. 164, 191 (1994) (no privatguse of action for aidin
and abetting securities fraud und@ction 10(b) or Rule 10b-3) re Penn Central Securities
Litigation, 494 F.2d 528, 540 (3rd Cir. 1974) (no directimplied private cause of action f
aiding and abetting violationsf SEC mandatory reporting requirements set forth in Seq
13(a) of the Exchange Act and/mlated Rules 13a-1, 13a-13 and 12b-2@wis v. Soorck,
612 F.Supp. 1316, 1332-33 (N.D.C4B85) (no private cause alction for violations of
Section 13(b) of the Exchange Act or Rule 13b2idl).at 8-9. Defendats argue that:

...Section 10A of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78;j-l, provides

that certain reporting requirements may be triggered to inform the

company and, in certain situations, the SEC, if an auditor becomes

aware of an “illegal &t during the course adn audit. There is no

private cause of action aing under 15 U.S.C. § 78j-Fee 15

U.S.C. 8§ 78j-1(c); Pub. L. No. 104-67, § 203, 109 Stat. 737, 762

(1995) (“Nothing in this Act othe amendments made by this Act

shall be deemed to create or ratify any implied private right of

action....”). Enforcement for failuréo “blow the whistle” lies
exclusively with the SEQd.

Id. at 10.
With regard to Section 17(a), Mr. Macioresponds by arguing thdhe Ninth Circuit
has held on multiple occasions that a private cause of action exists under 817(a),” and

“telling that the United States Supreme Court taslined to confront the issue inferring th

the decision is much closer to a debate ttenDefendants would like this court to believe.

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 5
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Dkt. #24 at 11-12. Mr. Maciora cites Mosher v. Kane, 784 F.2d 1385 (9th Cir.1986) ar

Sephenson v. Calpine Conifers 11, Ltd., 652 F.2d 808 (9th Cir.1981), a&ll as several out-oft

circuit cases.ld. at 12. With regard to aiding andedting securities fraud under Section 10
and Rule 10b-5, Mr. Maciora argues thatding no private cause @iction for aiding and
abetting Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 “makes sense if the Defendts are found to be

primary violator of Section 10(b) and Rule 188-and then appears to argue that becg
Defendants allegedly aided and abetted MyECheckolating Secton 10(b) and Rule 10b-
they were themselves primary violators of these laws, and that “[i]t is important to nof
courts including the Supreme Court have nevkdrthat a person can’t be an aider and abg
of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the ExchaAgeif theyalso a primary violator.d. at 12-
13 (referring without proper citation &oneridge Inv. Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc.,

552 U.S. 148 (2008)). With regard to Secti®A of the Exchange Act, Plaintiff asks tf
Court to find a private cause of action existslemthis section as a tber of first impression

referring to theCort v. Ash four-part test to determine whethaefederal statute creates a priv

cause of actionld. at 15 (referring whout proper citation t&€ort v. Ash, 422 U.S. 66, 95 S|

Ct. 2080, 2087, 45 L.Ed.2d 26 (1975)).

On Reply, Defendants argue tiat. Maciora cites to bad ain support of his Sectiol
17(a) claim becaus@ashington Pub. Power Supply overruledMosher and Sephenson, and
because the out-of-circuit cases cited by Mr. Maciora were later overruled. Dkt. #2

(citing, inter alia, Washington Pub. Power Supply, 823 F.2d at 1358%inkel v. Sratton Corp.,

962 F.2d 169, 175 (2nd Cir. 1992Zchlifke v. Seafirst Corp., 866 F.2d 935, 942 (7th Cif.

1989)). Defendants reiterate tliaé Supreme Court has held tiiag¢re is no private cause

action for aiding and abetting ajjed violations of Section 10(lor Rule 10b-5, and that “Mx.

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 6
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Maciora fails to identify any law to the contraryfd. at 8-9 (again citingCentral Bank of

Denver, N.A,, supra). Defendants walk through ti@ort v. Ash four-part test ad argue that the

Court should not create a privatausa of action under Section 10Ad. at 9-10. Defendant
point out that Mr.Maciora failed to address their argurteeto dismiss claims for aiding arj
abetting violations of Section 13(a), Seatil3(b), and related rules 17 C.F.R. § 240.13
13a-13; 12b-20 and 13b2-1, antis concedes the pointld. at 12.

The Court agrees with Defendants as todleaims. The case law clear in the Ninth

Circuit, and this Court will not deviate from controlling precedent. The Court finds that there is

no private cause of action under Sewatil7(a) of the Securities ActSee Washington Pub.

Power Supply, supra. The cases cited by Mr. Maciofar the opposite were subsequent

overruled. The Court finds that there is novate cause of action for aiding and abett

violations of Section 10b or Rule 10b-See Central Bank of Denver, N.A., supra; Soneridge

Inv. Partners, 552 U.S. at 162 (“[a]idingrad abetting liability is [noyauthorized in actions

brought by the SEC but not by priegparties.”). The Court dects to create a private cau

of action under Section 10A as contemplatedvisyy Maciora, agreeing with Defendants th

the plain language of the statutelicates a clear inté to preclude a prate cause of actior).

The Court finds that Mr. Maciarconcedes that there is navpte cause of action for aidin
and abetting violations of Section 13aecBon 13b, and related rules 17 C.F.R. § 240.13
13a-13; 12b-20 and 13b2-1. Accordingly, Mr. Maaiersecond, third, fourth, and fifth claim
as well as the part of his first claim alleginglations of Section 1(a), are precluded as
matter of law and will be dismissed.

2. Fraud Claimsunder Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 7
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Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act of 1934,U.%.C. 8§ 78j(b), makes it unlawful “for

any person... to use or employ, in connection \lig purchase or sale of any security...
manipulative or deceptive device or contrivanceontravention of suchules and regulation
as the Commission may prescribe[.]” SECI&R00b-5, promulgated under the authority
section 10(b), in turn, provides:

It shall be unlawful for any person...

(a) To employ any device, sahe, or artifice to defraud,

(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to
state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading, or

(c) To engage in any act, pragj or course of business which
operates or would operate as aufil or deceit upon any person, in
connection with the purchase sale of any security.

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Defendants argue that MrMaciora’s claims for “understating the number
outstanding shares, misstatinga¢holder equity, and understagi compensation expenses”
arise from PMB'’s alleged failure to amend the SHi6gs to reflect Zalunardo’s interest. DK
#12 at 6 (citing Dkt. #2 at 1 16-18, 22, 24, 26,29, Defendants argubat Mr. Maciora’'s
security fraud claims—uviolationsf Section 10b and Rule 1@ef the Exchange Act—fail t(
meet the heightened pleading requirementshef Private Securities Litigation Reform A

(“PSLRA™) and Rule 9(b) by failing to pleaditir particularity facts that demonstrate PM

ANy
S

of

D

ct

1B

made any “materially false” statement with the “intent to defraud” and that Mr. Maciora

“relied” on any such statesnt, resulting in damageld. at 2. Defendants cite ta re Daou
Sys., Inc., 411 F.3d 1006, 1014 (9th Cir. 2005) for thédwing five-part test: “(1) a materia
misrepresentation or omissionfatt, (2) scienter, (3 connection with thpurchase or sale g
ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED

COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 8
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a security, (4) transaction and lassusation, and (5) economic losdd. at 10. Defendant
argue that the Amended Complaindicates that MrMaciora bought the shes at issue prio

to confronting PMB and demanding that the Sii@gs be amended, and that “Mr. Macio

U)

F

ra

acquired his alleged shares in spite of, rather than because of, the alleged misrepresentations by

PMB.” Id. at 11. Defendants argue that “Mr. Ma@ has not pled facts specifying how
was misled by the Form 10s and/or finahcstatements and/or why PMB would ha
attempted to mislead him.I'd. at 12. Defendants argue that.Naciora has not pled scient

facts with particularity.ld. at 12-13. Defendants argue tliare are no facts in the Amend

he

Complaint indicating that Mr. Maciora relied &MB'’s audits in connection with his purchase

of the shares or that PMB'’s audits are connected to Mr. Maciora’s danmdgas14-15.

In Response, Mr. Maciora arguthat he “has more thanet the pleading requirements

of the PSLRA,” and that the “apparently stricjugements” of Rule 9(bghould be relaxed in

securities cases like this one “when factual nmfation is peculiarly within the Defendant|

knowledge or control,” citing a case from the Th@ircuit. Dkt. #24 a¥. Mr. Maciora argues

that there is ample evidence adception by the Defendantstims matter, referring (withou

citation to the Amended Complairt) “several million dollars ofeal estate that is owned by

t

MyECheck but is not on the laace sheet,” sham revenue transactions that were created by

fake contracts,” and “hundreds of millions of shares representing millions in expenses th
never on the books.Td. at 8-9. With regard to matality, Mr. Maciora argues that:

Over $500,000 in wire transactions real estate companies that
were never properly accountedr for ignored more than easily
meets the requirements for the second element. Add well over
$1,000,000 in real estate owned by MyECheck’'s wholly owned
subsidiary that is not on the lbace sheet and the element of
materiality is well satisfied. lis ludicrous that the Defendants
argue that these issues are notemal to support the underlying
claims.

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 9
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Id. at 9 (emphasis omitted). Mr. Maciora argues fttie element for theonnection to sale of
purchase of securities is met by the Pl#stpurchase of the securities owned by Rod
Zalunardo.” Id. at 9. Mr. Maciora argues that thee@tlings sufficiently establish scienter
because “[wl]ith all of these rtexial omissions, the Defendamre reckless in their opinion
or there is a very strong inference of scienteoever “the court shouldn’t expect the Plaintiff
to meet the almost unsurmountable (sic) w@isgetting the Defendastto conclude, ‘OK, yol
got me.” Id. at 10. Mr. Maciora argues that “[r]elianisesatisfied by the fact that the Plaint|ff
relied on the Defendants to enforce aauting based on genéraccepted accounting
principles” and that “[tlhose principles would have required that the Defendants insist pn the
proper accounting entries which would not yortlave created an accounting entry for
Zalunardo’s stock but would al$@ve insisted that a note to the financial statements reflected
the issuance of the stockZalunardo and other management team membéas.”

On Reply, Defendants argue that Mr. Maa fails to identify any “material’
misrepresentation by PMB and fails to plead fadth warticularity showingntent to defraud
Dkt. #24 at 2-4. Defendants arghat “[i]t is undisputed that Mr. Macieracquired his alleged

interest in [MyECheck] knowing that neithflyECheck]'s form 10, nor any of the othg

N4
=

publically available financial statements indichteat Mr. Zalunardo had any shares to sell,”
and that therefore “it cannot be said thdt. Maciora relied on PMB’s allegedly falge
information when deciding to purchase the sharéd.’at 4.

The Court finds that Mr. Maciora has notoperly pled facts to support his frayd
claims. There are two problems with the Amah@mplaint as drafted—first, the facts lack

sufficient particularity as regugd by the PSLRA and Rule 9(bAlthough Mr. Maciora plead

U7

very specific allegations dfaudulent activity, he does nplead with particularity anaterial

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 10
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misrepresentation or omission of fact communicated to him by Defendants in connectidg
the purchase of shares. He also does reddokcienter, causation, or economic loss
sufficient particularity. Thse problems could potentiallge resolved by amendmer
However, even if Mr. Maciora amended his piegd to add this additional factual support 1
his fraud claims, there is a second, more fundamental problem—the facts as alleged s
Mr. Maciora bought shares in spite of, rather thanause of, the alleged misrepresentation
Defendants. Mr. Maciora does not allege fPsIB represented that MEZalunardo had share
to sell, and that Mr. Maciora relied on thissearepresentation causing damages. Instead
Maciora alleges that he boughltr. Zalunardo’s shares without any representations by P
and only after purchasing these shares cordaetdB to demand that his newly purchas
shares be recognized. These facts, acceptadu@sdo not state a chaito relief that is
“plausible on its face,” nor can the Court dréng “reasonable inference” that these Defend;
are liable for the alleged harm under fraugbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quotinfivombly, 550 U.S.

at 555). The Court finds thategHack of a material misrepragation or omission and lack g

causation cannot be remedied by amendmentowit directly contradicting the existing

pleadings, and that therefore thesenataimust be dismissed with prejudice.
3. Negligence Claim

Mr. Maciora alleges that “[tle Defendant’s (sic) negligea harmed the Plaintiff by

aiding and abetting the company in filing falfieancial statements with the [SEC] whi¢

created an atmosphere in which the puldmmpany failed to prin stock certificates
representing hundreds of millions of sharedabt, 66,666,666 of these shares were shareg

the Plaintiff purchased.” Dkt. #2 at 26.

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 11

n with

vith

—

or
now that
s of

S

Mr.
MB,

ed

aNts

f

h

that




O 0 NN O O &~ WoN -

N RN RN N N N N N N R o e e e e e e
o NN O O k= WD RO O 0N N O WD RO

Defendants argue that the@@t should apply Washingtastate law for Mr. Maciora’g
negligence claim, and that because Mr. Maciaas not PMB'’s client, there was no duty
care. Dkt. #12 at 17-20. Defendants point oat Mr. Maciora “purchasd the shares knowin

(or turning a blind eye to the fact) that PMB had allegedly incorrectly audited the Form ]

of

0
10 and

financial statements.ld. at 19. Defendants argue there moepled facts to establish causatipn

or the claimed damagesd.

Mr. Maciora’s Response argutsat Section 552 of the Retement (Second) of Tor

should apply to this case, and tia is alleging third party gégence. Dkt. #24 at 16. Mr.

Maciora argues that the Costould apply Texas state lawd. at 17-18.

On Reply, Defendants argue that evenTéxas law applied this claim would

precluded as a matter of law because of a laickluty to Mr. Maciora. Dkt. #25 at 11.

Defendants also point out the causation mwbmentioned previolys arguing that “{]f only
Mr. Maciora had relied on the information @ed by PMB he may not have acquired shg
that Mr. Zalunardo did not have to selld. Defendants go on to summarize this case thus

Mr. Maciora expressly concedes that, rather than rely on PMB’s
audit, he was “relying on an accurate Form 10 because he told
them and asked them to li®od Zalunardo’s stock and the
Plaintiff told the Defendants that in multiple communications.”
Dkt. #24 at 18. In other wordhge bought Mr. Zalnardo’s shares
knowing the SEC filings did not identify them, and hoped to strong
arm PMB, either through threating communications or the
present litigation, into amendingeh~orm 10 (which it cannot do)

to reflect Mr. Zalunardo’s stres (which do not exist).

Id. at 12.
The Court agrees with Defendants tha fitroblem with Mr. Maciora’s negligeng
claim is a fundamental one that would arise relgaedof which state’s law is applied. Secti

552 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts contateglliability for pecuniary loss caused

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 12
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“lustifiable reliance upon the information.” nder Washington or Texas law, regardlesy of

whether a duty was owed to Mr. Maciora, thet$eof this case simplgo not support the clain

=)

that any negligent action by Defgants caused Mr. Maciora torpbase the shares from Mr.
Zalunardo—the facts as pled can only suppbe conclusion that Mr. Maciora bought the

shares without knowledge of or in spite off@wlants’ audit of the Form 10 and financjal

O 0 NN O O &~ WoN -

N RN RN N N N N N N R o e e e e e e
o NN O O k= WD RO O 0N N O WD RO

statements. These facts, accepted as true, do not state a claim to relief that is “plausible on its

face,” nor can the Court drawetireasonable inference” that tBefendants are liable for the
alleged harm under a theory of negligenbtgbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quotinfwombly, 550 U.S.
at 555). Accordingly, this claim must be dismissed.

C. Motion to Amend Complaint

Pursuant to Rule 15(a)(2),“@ourt should freely give leavigo amend] when justice so

requires.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2). Five fastare commonly assessed before granting leave

to amend: (1) bad faith, (2) undue delay, (33jydice to the opposing pg, (4) futility of
amendment, and (5) whether the pdrég previously amended the pleadirge Allen v. City
of Beverly Hills, 911 F.2d 367, 373 (91Gir. 1990). In conducting t five-factor analysis, the
court must grant all inferences in favor of allowing amendmésriggs v. Pace Am. Group,

Inc., 170 F.3d 877, 880 (9th Cir. 1999n addition, the court must bmindful of the fact that,

for each of these factors, the party opposing amendment has the burden of showing that

amendment is not warrantedCD Programs, Ltd. v. Leighton, 833 F.2d 183, 187 (9th Cjr.
1987);see also Richardson v. United Sates, 841 F.2d 993, 999 (9th Cir. 1988). Futility algne
can justify a court’s refusdb grant leae to amend.Novak v. United Sates, 795 F.3d 1012,

1020, (9th Cir. 2015) (citingonin v. Calderon, 59 F.3d 815, 845 (9th Cir. 1995)).

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 13
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Mr. Maciora moves for leave to amend his Complaint a second time, acknowlg
that this Motion was brought in the shadowtloé Motion to Dismiss and alleging that th
amendment “should resohamy doubt as to whether dismissal may be warranted.” Dkt. #
2. Mr. Maciora argues that this amendment is not made in bad faith and does not caus
delay or prejudice to Defendant¢d. at 3. Mr. Maciora fails to set forth the changes bg
made in this proposed amendment. Uponewwof the attache®roposed Second Amendg
Complaint, the Court concludes that it contaires¢taims dismissed above for lack of a priv
cause of actionSee Dkt. #13-2 at 17-28. The portion of Mr. Madira’s first cause of actio
for violation of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of thxchange Act of 1934 identical tothat in
the previous Amended Complaisee Dkt. #2 at 18-19; Dkt. #13-2 at 17-18, and the propo
cause of action for negligence is also identisad,Dkt. #2 at 24-26; Dkt. #13-2 at 21-22. T
Proposed Second Amended Complaint adds cafsastion seven through eleven for “aidir
and abetting money laundering,” “aiding and abettivire fraud,” “aiding and abetting brea
of fiduciary responsibility,” “aithg and abetting fraud,” and féviolations of Title 3, Section
10A of the Securities Litigation Refordct of 1995.” Dkt. #13-2 at 22-29.

In Response, Defendants argue thatpitogposed Second Amended Complaint “ass
new futile claims, fails to support his previouslgserted frivolous claims, and... was cleg
filed for no other purpose than to counteractfi@hdants’] pending Motion to Dismiss.” DK

#17 at 5. First, Defendants argue that the Cshotuld “deny leave to amend to add claims

which there is no private cause of action,edfically “aiding and abetting securities fraud,

aiding and abetting SEC reportimgquirements, violation of Sgon 17(a) of the Securitie

2 The Court notes that although Mr. Maciora has attached a copy of the proposed Second Amended Co
his Motion, he has not indicated in the attachment how it differs from the prior pleading “by bracketiignor
through the text to be deleted and underlining or highlighting the text to be added” as requiredll®ul® 15
However, the Court has been able to review the progaseading and will not require further action to correct
mistake from Mr. Maciora.

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED

COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO

RULE 12(c) - 14
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Act, or violation of SectiorlOA of the Exchange Act.”ld. at 6. Defendants argue that t
proposed amendment fails to support a claim éousties fraud because it fails to identify a
material misrepresentation by Defendants at #r. Maciora relied upon Defendants’ au
when deciding to acquire the alleged shares; [tfpere are no facts demonstrating a ‘cau
connection between the fraud and tkeuwsities transaction in question.td. at 7 (citingin re

Daou Sys., Inc., 411 F.3d at 1025). The Defendants reddress the new claims. Defenda
argue that there is no private cause of action for wire fraddat 9 (citingWisdom v. First

Midwest Bank of Poplar Bluff, 167 F.3d 402, 408 (8th Cir. 199%teser v. Bopp, 29 F.3d 630
(9th Cir. 1994)). Defendants argue thaerth is no private causef action for money
laundering. Id. (citing, inter alia, 18 U.S.C. 81956l Camino Resources, LTD v. Huntington

Nat. Bank, 722 F.Supp.2d 875 (W.D. Mich. 2010). Dadents acknowledge that there may
a cause of action for aiding and abetting breaichduciary duty orfraud under Washingto
law. Id. at 11 (citingln re Consol. Meridian Funds, 485 B.R. 604, 616 (Bankr. W.D. Was
2013);Brashkis v. Hyperion Capital Grp., LLC, No. 3:11-cv-05635 RBL, 2011 WL 6130787
*3 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 8, 2011)). Defendants a&dliat Mr. Maciora has nonetheless failed
allege facts suggesting that Defendants knewehtleged breach of fiduciary duty or fraud,
pled the fraud facts with particularityd. Defendants argue that Mvlaciora fails to identify
any “agreement and concerted action amfidgfendants and MyECheck] to commit a
alleged fraud.” Id. at 12 (citingBrashkis, 2011 WL 6130787 at * 3).Defendants argue tha
“[o]ther than merely stating in conclusory terthat [Defendants] ‘knewor ‘had to know’ that
the transactions were inappropriate, Mr. Maai fails to plead any facts suggesting t
[Defendants] was aware that tlransactions were illicit andé how [Defendants] aided ¢

assisted in making the transactionsld. Defendants argue that if the alleged breache

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 15
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fiduciary duty and fraud took place, according to the Complaint they took place more
year before Defendants were engaged to parfan audit and more than a year before
Maciora allegedly purchased the shares at issuek thus Mr. Maciora’sonclusory allegation:s
of aiding and abetting and causation of harm are insufficient;there is no basis for an
claim that [Mr. Maciora] was somehow damddey [MyECheck’s] alleged illicit transaction

and/or [Defendants’] allegedifare to identify them.” Id. Defendants fail to directly addre

Mr. Maciora’s eleventh cause of action for “vititans of Title 3, Sectio 10A of the Securities

Litigation Reform Act of 1995.”

On Reply, Mr. Maciora repeats the samg@uments he made in opposition to |
Motion to Dismiss to argue that the amendment is not futiith regard to the materialit
requirement of his claims of securiti®é#aud under Section 10b and Rule 10b(5) of
Exchange Act, Mr. Maciora argues:

Over $500,000 in wire transactions real estate companies that
were never properly accountedr for ignored more than easily
meets the requirements for the second element. Add well over
$1,000,000 in real estate owned by MyECheck’'s wholly owned
subsidiary that is not on the lbace sheet and the element of
materiality is well satisfied. lis ludicrous that the Defendants

argue that these issues are notemal to support the underlying
claims.

Dkt. #20 at 4 (emphasis omitted). This exact language has been addressed prev
this Order. Mr. Maciora argues that “[tlheeglent for the connection to sale of purchase
securities is met by the Plaiifis purchase of the securiieowned by Rod Zalunardo.'ld.

Again, this is identical to Mr. Maciora’s argument in opposition to the Motion to Dismiss

% The Court notes that Mr. Maciora’s Reply is 16 pages long, well in excess of the 6-page limit allowed for
to a Motion of this kind.See LCR 7(e)(4). Mr. Maciora did not requesave from the Court to file this grosy
over-length brief. Defendants properly filed a Surreply notifying the Court of this issue arelfatthhat Mr,
Maciora raises a new claim in his Reply that was not part of the proposed Second Amended Cofep|Biit.
## 22, 23. The Court finds that Mr. Maciora has failedamply with the local rule on page limits and impropg
raises a new claim. Accordingly, the Court will only ddes the first six pages of Mr. Maciora’s Reply and
disregard the new claim.

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO

RULE 12(c) - 16
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has been addressed previously. Mr. Macio@@eds to repeat verbatim arguments foun
Mr. Maciora’s Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss in support of his other claims, includin
claim for negligence See, e.g., id. at 6.

The Court finds that there is no undue delaypmjudice in the filing of this Amende
Complaint. While the Court finds the timingnd lack of analysisn Plaintiffs Motion
indicative of a procedural (rather than substantive) opposition to Defendants’ Moti
Dismiss, this does not rise to the level of bad faith in the Court’s opinion. The Court not
this is not Mr. Maciora’s first attempt amending his Complaint. However, the Co
concludes that the key question before ibme of futility, and will address Mr. Maciora’
causes of action in turn.

First, the Court has alreadgrcluded that there is no pate cause of action for aidin

and abetting securities fraud, aiding and @hgtSEC reporting requirements, violation

Section 17(a) of the Securities tAor violation of Section 10/Af the Exchange Act. Mr

Maciora’s amendment of these claims is thus futile.

Second, the Court agrees with Defendants that the Proposed Second Af

1 in
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Complaint fails to include any new factual allegations that could show material

misrepresentation by Defendants or that. Mraciora relied upon Dendants audit whel
deciding to acquire the alleged shares. Tbhe proposed cause of action for violation
Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchangedkdt934 is identical téhe previous cause ¢
action, and again fails to state with particulasthat misrepresentatis were made and ho
they caused Mr. Maciora injury. It is not enoughsimply allege new misrepresentations a
repeat that Mr. Maciora purchastte shares at issue, Mr. Maa must actually connect th

dots and state a claim to relief that is “plaiesibn its face,” allowing the Court to draw tf

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 17
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“reasonable inference” that the Defendaate liable for the alleged frau&ee Igbal, 556 U.S.

at 678 (quotingTwombly, 550 U.S. at 555). The Couttus concludes that the proposed

amendment of this claim is futile.
Third, the Court finds that the new proposedseaaf action for negligence is identida

to that in the Amended Compid Although Mr. Maciora setforth additional facts in hig

Proposed Second Amended Complaint, he fails to connect these facts to his claim, which is

essentially identical. As such, the Court concludes that this amendment is futile.

Finally, the Court will address the newlydded claims. The Court agrees with

Defendants that there is noiate cause of action for wirkaud or money launderingSee

Wisdom, 167 F.3d at 408; 18 U.S.C. 81956. Evehdre were, the Proposed Second Amended

Complaint fails to allege how ¢halleged wire fraud or moneyuladering harmed Mr. Maciora.
See Dkt. #13-2 at 22-25. To the extent thapivate cause of action exists for aiding an
abetting breach of fiduciary dutyr fraud, Mr. Maciora’s conchory claims fail for lack of
particularity and for the irreparable cation issues identified by Defendardg. the factual
events giving rise to Mr. Magia’s claims of aiding and albieig breach of fiduciary duty of
fraud are alleged to have taken place well beffbreMaciora allegedly purchased the shares

issue. The Court concludes that these claims are not plausible on their face and are thus

Mr. Maciora’s final claim is for “violation®f Title 3, Section 10A of the Securitigs

Litigation Reform Act of 1995.” The Court hasdn unable to find any instance where Title

of the PSLRA has given rise to a private cao$eaction. This title requires auditors fo

investigate potential illegal actty and to “inform the appropriatievel of the management of

d

at

futile.

the issuer and assure that the audit committetheofissuer, or the board of directors of the

issuer in the absence of such a committee, egja@ately informed with respect to illegal a¢ts

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 18
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that have been detected orvbaotherwise come to the attention of such accountant ir
course of the audit, unless the illegal actlearly inconsequential.”Section 10A (b)(1)(B),

109 Stat. 737, 763. If there is a failure to takaeedial action, Section 10Aequires auditors t(

“directly reports its conclusions to the boawtl directors.” Section 10A goes on to limi

liability in a private action and provide for diypenalties to be imposed by the SEC. Sec

10A (c)-(e), 109 Stat. 737, 764. On its face, gtagute does not appear to allow for a priv

cause of action. Indeed, Titl# bf the PSLRA amends Sectid®A of the Exchange Act, 1

U.S.C. § 78j-l, which the Court has already foulogs not give rise to@use of action. Eve

if there was a private cause of action, Mr. Maai fails to allege he Defendants’ allegeq

violation caused him harm, andetiCourt finds that amendment add this claim is futile fol
the same lack of causation as previously identified.

IV. CONCLUSION

Having reviewed the relevant pleadings, thela@ations and exhibits attached therg

and the remainder of the recorde Gourt hereby finds and ORDERS:

1) Defendants PMB Helin Donovan, LLP, ChigstCardwell and Donald McPhee

Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to Fed. Riv. P. 12(c), (Dkt. #12), is GRANTED.

Plaintiff Kenneth Maciora’s @iims are dismissed in their entirety with prejudice.
2) Plaintiff Kenneth Maciora’s Motion for Leavto File Second Amended Complai
(Dkt. #13), is DENIED.

DATED this 20" day of July 2016.

(B

RICARDO S. MARTINEZ
CHIEF UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE SECOND AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO
RULE 12(c) - 19
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